THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 11 2015

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

SC Court of Appeals

Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 09-ALJ-17-0204-CC

Appellate Case No. 2012-208608

Rent-A-Center West, Inc.,..... Appellant,
v.
South Carolina Department of Revenue Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John C. Von Lehe
Bryson M. Geer
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. General Background on RAC West

The Rent-A-Center ("RAC") business is a rent-to-own business that rents and sells appliances, furniture, electronics, computers, televisions, etc. R. p. 125 at 83:24-84-2. RAC stores are located in all 50 states. R. p. 125 at 84:10-12. The ownership of these stores is split between three entities: RAC East owns and operates retail stores in eastern states (including South Carolina), RAC West owns and operates retail stores in western states and RAC Texas owns and operates retail stores in Texas. R. p. 125 at 84:18-25.

RAC West is the taxpayer in this case. In addition to owning and operating retail stores, it owns and licenses the RAC intellectual property ("IP"), which primarily includes RAC trademarks and trade names, to all RAC companies. R. p. 125 at 84:20-21 and p. 126 at 85:6-8. At issue in this case is the proper method of reporting RAC

West's income in South Carolina as a result of its licensing of IP to RAC East for use by the RAC East stores in South Carolina.

RAC West licenses the IP to RAC East pursuant to a licensing agreement. Trademark License Agreement dated 12/31/2002, R. pp. 383-390. Per this agreement, RAC West charges a royalty fee for the license that is equal to 3% of the net sales of the RAC East stores. Id. RAC West and RAC East set the amount of this fee based upon the analysis and conclusions of a transfer pricing study. R. p. 130 at 104:13-18 and p. 162 at 230:23-231:25. SCDOR stipulated at trial that it did not dispute that the amount of this fee was reasonable. R. p. 259 at 134:5-6 and 9-10.

Beyond receiving these royalty payments for the use of the IP by the South Carolina stores, RAC West has no activities in this State. R. p. 131 at 106:3-6. It has no physical presence in South Carolina as it has no employees, facilities or tangible property in this State. R. p. 131 at 105:17-22. It also makes no sales in South Carolina and receives *de minimus*, if any, services or benefits from the State. R. p. 131 at 105:23-106:2.

Additionally, RAC West presented evidence regarding the unitary relationship between its two business activities of owning and licensing IP and owning and operating retail stores in western states. The same management is over both business activities. R. p. 131 at 107:14-21. The two activities also share services and systems that create efficiencies and cost savings across both business lines. R. p. 131 at 108:4-11. All income from the retail sales and the royalties is placed in a general account and is used for the benefit of the company as a whole. R. p. 131 at 107:22-108:3. The retail stores contribute to the profitability of the IP and vice versa. R. p. 131 at 108:12-25. More

specifically, as the RAC brand name becomes more well-known, it builds brand loyalty, public recognition and goodwill, which increases traffic to the stores and leads to customers being willing to pay more to buy the RAC brand versus another brand. R. p. 130 at 102:9-25 and p. 131 at 108:20-25. This, in turn, leads to increased sales and thus higher profitability of RAC East (via increased sales revenue) and RAC West (via increased royalty payments). Id. Likewise, as the RAC West retail store sales increase, the RAC IP becomes more valuable as it is tied to a more profitable and successful business. R. p. 155 at 203:4-8. Stated another way, the retail sales activities and the intellectual property activities of RAC West contribute to and depend on one another and there is a flow of value between the two activities. R. p. 155 at 203:20-204:2. In addition to the foregoing factual testimony, RAC West also presented expert testimony regarding the unitary nature of its business. Its expert economist testified that RAC West was a single unitary business based on these facts and the mutual interdependence of the trademark and retail businesses (R. p. 170 at 264:3-23) as did RAC West's tax policy expert, who found an "inextricable link" and "synergy" between the IP and retail store businesses. R. p. 241 at 64:9- p. 242 at 65:1 and p. 242 at 65:17-66:6.

The evidence regarding these relationships was uncontested as SCDOR presented no evidence to challenge or refute any of the above. In fact, SCDOR's auditor testified that he thought the RAC IP owned by RAC West probably contributed to the profitability of the RAC West stores but that he did not consider this fact in his analysis.² R. p. 267 at 167:3-11.

² More specifically, when SCDOR's auditor was asked whether the IP owned by RAC West contributed to the profitability of the RAC West stores, he responded: "Well, they probably do. When we go and audit, we don't think about that; we're just looking at

Finally, RAC West's witness testified that RAC West kept records of the total costs for its unitary business activities (IP and retail stores), which it reported in its returns, but it did not separately track the costs of the IP alone because there was no reason to do so and it would be very difficult to do with any degree of accuracy or reliability. R. p. 132 at 111:11- p. 133 at 115:17 and p. 155 at 204:3- p. 156 at 205:8. In fact, this South Carolina audit was the first time RAC West had ever been asked for this information. R. p.157 at 112:1-4. Separately tracking the IP costs (versus tracking total costs) is difficult because of the interrelated and interdependent nature of the company's business activities. R. p. 132 at 111:11- p. 133 at 115:17 and p. 155 at 204:3- p. 156 at 205:8.

While SCDOR's economist claimed that managerial accountants routinely track costs for companies, tracking indirect costs like overhead or man hours spent on one task versus another of a unitary business such as RAC West would fail to capture all of the contributions and flows of value between the two activities. R. p. 155 at 204:3- p. 156 at 205:8 (RAC West witness discussing that because work performed related to the IP increases the value of the retail operations and vice versa, it is difficult to accurately account for the actual costs of one versus the other even if one could make an effort to track an employee's time on tasks for the two different operations); R p.163 at 235:15-24 (RAC West's economist and transfer pricing expert, Dr. John Wells, discussing the difficulty of separating costs and explaining that the employees of RAC West were performing "integrated functions which both supported the intangibles and were

the numbers; we don't think about whether this whatever (sic) contributes to the profitability." R. p. 267 at 167: 3-11.

strategic in nature” such that it “became difficult to try to think about ways to bifurcate people’s activities between those various functions.”). See also Expert Opinion of Professor Richard D. Pomp at p. 9, R. p. 407 (RAC West's tax policy expert explaining that is "nearly impossible" to divide the costs of RAC West's unitary business between the stores and the royalties and stating that RAC West would have no reason to attempt to do so under GAAP, the Internal Revenue Code or its own internal management accounting); R. p. 240 at 60:11- p. 241 at 61:7 (Professor's Pomp's trial testimony regarding the same).

B. Tax Returns, Audit, Protest and Determination

RAC West's Tax Director testified that the company followed the instructions and guidance provided in the tax returns in preparing the returns at issue. More specifically, RAC West started with its federal taxable income (which would include the total income less costs of RAC West), made South Carolina adjustments and applied the standard single factor gross receipts statutory apportionment formula set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-2290 to determine South Carolina apportionable net income all in accordance with what the statute, tax return and instructions dictate.³ See R. p. 134 at 117:17-118:7; S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-2290 (2014); Sample SCDOR Corporate Income Tax Instruction, R. pp. 479-499; RAC West Amended Tax Returns 2003-2005, R. pp. 361-382. The standard formula computes an income tax by apportioning corporate net

³ RAC West initially filed its returns using the three-factor standard apportionment method (i.e. property, payroll and gross revenues) but later determined that the single-factor gross receipts method was more appropriate and, accordingly, filed amended returns under that method, which SCDOR agreed would be the correct method if the standard statutory method is applied. R. p. 134 at 117:14-16 and p. 147 at 172:12-18.

income based on a ratio that compares RAC West's receipts in South Carolina to its total receipts in all states.⁴ See S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-2290 (2014).

SCDOR rejected RAC West's use of the standard statutory method and instead levied a tax on RAC West based only on its gross royalty receipts (in effect a "flat tax"). This flat tax on gross receipts ignores all of RAC West's receipts except for the royalties derived from the licensing of the RAC IP. In addition, the flat tax method ignores the net income of the royalties as it did not offset these revenues by the costs incurred to generate them.⁵ Finally, the flat tax method ignores the unitary nature of RAC West's business. The audit report does not indicate that the auditor even considered whether RAC West operated a unitary business, which cannot be subject to separate accounting, even though he conceded that a unitary business would not need to do all business activities in this State in order to be taxed as a unitary business. R. p. 265 at 157:21-158:3. Instead, SCDOR ignored the inter-dependencies between the business activities that generate the income streams and the unitary nature of the business and applied a purported separate accounting method that considered only the

⁴ RAC West's Tax Director also testified that in preparing and submitting the returns at issue, he acted in good faith and with substantial authority, that he made adequate disclosures on the returns, and that nothing in the instructions or anything else he had seen suggested that RAC West should file its return using the separate accounting method SCDOR now asserts. R. p. 138 at 133:10-134:21.

⁵ This was a point of contention between the parties as SCDOR argued that it was the taxpayer's burden to provide it with the accurate costs associated with its royalty income, while RAC West argued that nothing under the law required it to track the costs of one business line versus another for a unitary business engaged in multiple business activities and asserted that it would be impossible to do so accurately or reliably. See *supra* pp. 6-7 (explaining that attempts to allocate costs for IP activities versus retail store activities would not likely be accurate or reliable due to the interrelated and interdependent nature of these activities and that separate accounting of the costs would fail to capture all of the contributions and flows of value between the two activities).

receipts from the business line that operates in this State to compute a representation of the proportion of the business done by RAC West within this State. See SCDOR Audit Report for RAC West at p. 4, R. p. 344; and supra p. 6, n. 2 (auditor's testimony admitting that the IP business probably contributed to the profitability of the RAC West stores but stating that he did not consider that in the audit).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (the "APA") provides the appropriate standard of review in an appeal related to the decision of an administrative agency. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2014); see also CarMax Auto Superstores West Coast, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 411 S.C. 79, 85, 767 S.E.2d 195, 198 (2014). Under the APA, the Court of Appeals may reverse or modify a decision of the ALC "if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; . . . (d) affected by other error of law; [or] (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2014); CarMax, 411 S.C. at 85, 767 S.E.2d at 198; Brownlee v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 382 S.C. 129, 136, 676 S.E.2d 116, 119-120 (2009) (holding ALJ may be reversed based on error of law or if his findings were not supported by substantial evidence).

STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

When interpreting a statute, the sole function of the Court is to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature. Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The starting point in doing so should always be the text of the statute

itself. Id. (holding that "[w]hat a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will"); Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003). In interpreting the text, the plain meaning rule requires that "words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand that statute's operation." State v. Leopard, 349 S.C. 467, 471, 563 S.E.2d 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2002). Finally, "[w]here the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Hodges, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581.⁶

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALC ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STANDARD STATUTORY APPORTIONMENT FORMULA DID NOT FAIRLY REPRESENT RAC WEST'S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES IN SOUTH CAROLINA AND THAT SCDOR'S ALTERNATIVE METHOD WAS REASONABLE.

The central issue in this case is the proper method to use in determining RAC West's taxable income in this State during the audit period (tax years ending 2003 through 2005). RAC West's position is that the standard statutory method fairly represents its business activities and that SCDOR's alternative separate accounting method does not, while SCDOR claims the opposite is true. Because the ALC's findings in favor of SCDOR on these issues are contrary to all evidence presented and

⁶ See also State v. Leopard, 349 S.C. 467, 471, 563 S.E.2d 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding when the language of the statute is clear, "a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature's language. . . ."); Rosmer v. Pfizer, 263 F.3d 263 (4th Cir. 2001) (holding that when a statute is plain on its face, the court's inquiry is at an end).

the law, this Court should reverse those findings. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (B)(a), (d), and (e) (Supp. 2014); CarMax, 411 S.C. at 85, 767 S.E.2d at 198.

A. South Carolina Law Imposes an Income Tax on a Multi-State Taxpayer's Corporate Net Income Based on the Proportion of the Trade or Business Performed within this State Versus other States.

Under South Carolina law, a multi-state taxpayer that does business both within and without this State is subject to a 5% corporate income tax "upon a base which reasonably represents the proportion of the trade or business carried on within this State." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) (2014). The General Assembly's language in this statute focuses on the **proportion** of a taxpayer's business within South Carolina and makes no mention of the **type** of income stream that is being taxed. The starting point for determining the "base" referenced in § 12-6-2210(B) is the taxpayer's "federal taxable income" plus or minus certain adjustments (under Article 9 of Title 12) which results in the taxpayer's South Carolina "apportionable net income." See S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-580 (2014). This net income figure is then adjusted by the amount of income, deductions or credits that should be allocated (i.e. assigned) to another state. The parties agree that there are no allocable items at issue in this matter.

Next, the taxpayer's "apportionable net income" is apportioned under the appropriate statute, which, in this case, the parties agree is the single-factor "gross receipts" statute if the standard statutory method is to be applied. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2290 (2014); R. p. 268 at 172:12-18 (testimony of auditor that single-factor formula would be the correct method). Under this statute, the taxpayer's "gross receipts from within this State" are divided by the taxpayer's "total gross receipts from everywhere." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2290 (2014). This statutorily defined fraction is then multiplied

by the taxpayer's apportionable net income to arrive at the South Carolina taxable income, i.e. the "base which reasonably represents the proportion of the trade or business carried on within this State." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) (2014). Finally, the South Carolina taxable income is multiplied by the 5% corporate income tax rate resulting in the amount due in taxes. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-530 (2014).

In this case, RAC West followed the above standard statutory formula by starting with its federal taxable income and making any appropriate adjustments to arrive at its apportionable net income. See supra Facts at p. 7. It then applied the single-factor gross receipts formula to its apportionable net income to determine its South Carolina net income. Id. Thus, RAC West divided its South Carolina gross receipts by its total gross receipts. Id. It then multiplied this fraction by its apportionable net income to determine its South Carolina taxable income, which it then multiplied by the South Carolina corporate income tax rate of 5%. Id.

SCDOR rejected this standard statutory apportionment method in favor of a tax on gross royalty receipts, which in the absence of any other possible description could be referred to as a failed attempt at separate accounting. Not only did it not include all of RAC West's gross receipts in the denominator of the apportionment factor, but it also did not multiply this fraction by RAC West's net income. Instead, SCDOR simply levied a flat tax on the gross royalty receipts of RAC West. See SCDOR Department Determination for RAC West, R. pp. 29-37.

First, it is clear that the General Assembly was focused on obtaining a fair measure of the **proportion** of a multi-state taxpayer's business activity in South Carolina versus other states. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) (2014) (stating that a

multi-state taxpayer that does business in this State as well as others is subject to a 5% tax "upon a base which reasonably represents the **proportion** of the trade or business carried on within this State") (emphasis added). Nothing in the statute even suggests that the "proportion" be limited to a comparison of the business done in this State versus **the same type of business** performed in other states as SCDOR has done.

Additionally, the General Assembly used federal taxable income as its starting point for determining a multi-state taxpayer's income, which by definition includes all income streams of a taxpayer. See S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-580 (2014). The gross receipts method, which SCDOR agrees would be the appropriate standard method if a standard method is to be used (see R p. 268 at 172:12-18), apportions net income by dividing "gross receipts from within this State" by "total gross receipts from everywhere." S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-2290 (2014).⁷ The General Assembly could easily have drafted the gross receipts statute to read that net income should be apportioned by dividing "gross receipts from within this State" by "total gross receipts everywhere **for the same type of business activity as is performed in this State**" if that was its intention. Thus, the plain meaning of the relevant statutes does not support SCDOR's position in this case that RAC West's gross receipts related to its retail business be excluded from consideration and that gross receipts from royalties be separately taxed.

Finally, South Carolina law requires that the apportionment fraction then be multiplied against a taxpayer's total *net income*. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2290 (2014)

⁷ See also R. p. 234 at 38:12-15 (testimony of RAC West's tax policy expert explaining that the standard apportionment formula under the Uniform Division of Income for Tax Purposes Act is "trying to get a relative measure of the sales occurring in the taxing state as a percentage of the corporation's total sales.").

(stating taxpayer shall apportion its remaining net income). In this case, SCDOR has completely ignored RAC West's corporate net income and seeks to tax only gross receipts from royalties. There is no support for this in the statutory scheme.

B. If SCDOR Chooses to Deviate from the Standard Formula, It Bears the Burden of Establishing that the Standard Formula Does Not Fairly Represent RAC West's In-State Business Activities and that its Method is Reasonable; it Failed to Prove Either Element.

Even if this Court determines that the relevant statutes do not reflect RAC West's activities in South Carolina and therefore permit SCDOR to propose an alternative method that revises the gross receipts formula as it suggests, SCDOR must still meet all statutory requirements. An alternative method of apportionment is only authorized in certain circumstances, which are set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §12-6-2320(A):

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