**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

**Case No. 09-ALJ-17-0204-CC
Appellant Case No. 2012-208608**

Rent-A-Center West, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

William J. Condon, Jr.
Counsel for Litigation
Sean G. Ryan
Managing Counsel for Litigation
300A Outlet Pointe Blvd. (29210)
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211-9979
(803) 898-5278
(803) 896-0171 (fax)
Attorneys for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Order of the ALC because, under the applicable standard of review, the factual findings of the ALC are supported by substantial evidence, the ALC made no errors of law, the Order did not violate any of Appellant's constitutional rights, and the Order was not arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion. In this case, the Department met its burden for proposing an alternative apportionment method by demonstrating that the statutory apportionment methods do not fairly represent Appellant's business activity in South Carolina and that the alternative apportionment method chosen by the Department was reasonable. The Department presented and the ALC found sufficient evidence to support these conclusions. Further, although the Department used an alternative method under Section 12-6-2320(A)(4), separate accounting, as an alternative apportionment method, is statutorily permitted and reasonable in this case.

The standard of review applicable in this case is based on S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) and applicable case law. The Administrative Procedures Act states that an appellate court's review of an ALC order "must be confined to the record" and that an appellate court "may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the ALJ as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2014).

This Court may affirm the ALC's decision, or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is, among others, (1) in violation of constitutional provisions, (2) affected by other error of law, (3) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or (4) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion. Id. "The ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence if, looking at the record as a whole, there is evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion the administrative agency reached." Olson v. South Carolina Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 663 S.E.2d 497 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008). "The mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence." Id.

I. THE ALC PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE STANDARD STATUTORY APPORTIONMENT FORMULA CHOSEN BY APPELLANT DID NOT FAIRLY REPRESENT THE EXTENT OF APPELLANT'S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES IN SOUTH CAROLINA AND THAT THE ALTERNATIVE METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT CHOSEN BY THE DEPARTMENT WAS REASONABLE.

The ALC properly found that the Department, as the proponent of an alternative apportionment method, satisfied its burden to prove that the statutory apportionment formulas used by Appellant did not fairly represent the extent of Appellant's business activity in South Carolina and that the Department's chosen alternative apportionment formula was reasonable. The ALC also properly found that the Department's alternative apportionment method provided a more appropriate base on which Appellant was taxed in South Carolina than the base provided by either the four-factor formula or the gross-receipts formula now used by Appellant. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the

ALC's decision because evidence in the record clearly supports the conclusion that reasonable minds could reach the same conclusions that the ALC made and because the ALC did not make an error of law.

A. The Department's Method Imposes An Income Tax On Appellant's Corporate Net Income On A Base Which Reasonably Represents The Proportion Of The Trade Or Business Carried On Within South Carolina.

Appellant's method of apportionment violated S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) because it did not create a tax base which reasonably represents the proportion of Appellant's trade or business carried on within South Carolina. Appellant conducted only its trademark business in South Carolina, yet it utilized an apportionment formula wherein the unrelated retail activities conducted in western and mid-western states were included in the denominator while adding nothing to the numerator. Under Section 12-6-2320, the Department attempted to satisfy the fundamental focus of South Carolina's corporate income tax scheme, which is to tax an entity's business activities that occurred within this State. Although Appellant's method violated Section 12-6-2210(B), the Department's alternative apportionment method creates a tax base which reasonably represents the proportion of Appellant's trade or business carried on within South Carolina.

South Carolina law imposes an income tax on a taxpayer who is transacting or conducting business partly within and partly without South Carolina "upon a base which reasonably represents the proportion of the trade of business carried on within this State." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) (2014). This "base" is South Carolina taxable income, and for multistate corporations this base is primarily determined by applying a statutory apportionment formula to federal taxable income (plus or minus certain state

adjustments). During the tax years at issue here, a taxpayer generally would determine this base by applying one of two statutory apportionment formulas: the multi-factor formula under Section 12-6-2250 or the gross-receipts formula under Section 12-6-2290; however, when the base determined by one of the statutory apportionment formulas does not fairly represent the extent of a taxpayer's business activity in South Carolina, a reasonable alternative apportionment formula under Section 12-6-2320(A) may be used.

Appellant receives royalties from its trademark business, (see R. pp. 383-90), while generating more traditional income from sales when offering tangible consumer goods to consumers, (see R. p. 125, Tr. p. 83, line 7-R. p. 126, Tr. p. 85, line 1). Since Appellant's sole source of income in South Carolina consisted of royalty fees from RAC East, (R. p. 342; Report of Field Audit Ex. 1, Tab 1 p. 3), Appellant's base comes from its trademark business, not its out-of-state retail business. While RAC West does not operate any retail stores in South Carolina, (R. pp. 354; Attachment to RAC West's Protest Ex. 1, Tab 3 p. 2), it owns intellectual property in South Carolina, (R. p. 131, Tr. p. 106, lines 3-6), and has licensed the use of the Intellectual Property to RAC East, (R. pp. 383-390), which operates retail stores in the eastern United States, including South Carolina, (R. p. 125, Tr. p. 84, lines 18-19; R. p. 128, Tr. p. 93, lines 13-15; R. p. 136, Tr. p. 125, lines 1-12). Except for Intellectual Property located in South Carolina, RAC West has no property or payroll in South Carolina. (R. p. 354.)

Here Appellant used both the multi-factor and the gross-receipts formulas during each of the tax years at issue, but Appellant's use of the statutory apportionment formulas was improper. First, Appellant recognized that its use of the multi-factor formula under Section 12-6-2250 was not appropriate as evidenced by Appellant amending its South

Carolina income tax returns on the eve of the hearing in this case.³ Appellant filed these additional amended income tax returns to switch from the multi-factor formula under Section 12-6-2250 to the single gross-receipts ratio under Section 12-6-2290. (R. p. 133, Tr. p. 116, line 14-Tr. p. 117, line 16; see R. pp. 361-63, 369-71, 377-79 (Form SC 1120 for 2003 through 2005 signed on July 11, 2011 Ex. 1, Tab 7).) Second, Mr. Tollack testified that RAC West filed income tax returns in South Carolina based on Geoffrey v. South Carolina Tax Commission, 313 S.C. 14, 437 S.E.2d 13 (S.C. 1993), (R. p. 124, Tr. p. 80, line 22-R. p. 125, Tr. p. 81, line 15; R., p. 131, Tr. p. 106, lines 3-13), where the Circuit Court upheld the South Carolina Tax Commission's determination that Geoffrey owed South Carolina tax on its royalty income generated from sales in South Carolina by the licensee, Toys-R-Us, Geoffrey at 17-18, 437 S.E.2d at 15. While Appellant's use of the standard gross-receipts formula under Section 12-6-2290 would generally be appropriate for its trademark business, the mixing of gross receipts from Appellant's in-state trademark business with gross receipts from its out-of-state retail business distorts the tax base that is required under Section 12-6-2210(B). Such mixing of gross receipts

³Appellant first used the multi-factor formula under Section 12-6-2250, which uses payroll, property, and sales factors, for the tax years at issue.³ (R. p. 133, Tr. p. 116, lines 14-23; see R. pp. 364-366, 372-74, 380-82 (Amended Form SC 1120 for 2003 through 2005 signed on Jan. 7, 2009 Ex. 1, Tab 7).) The multi-factor formula is applicable only for taxpayers whose principal business *in this State* is manufacturing or dealing in tangible personal property. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2250 (Supp. 2007) (emphasis added). However, Appellant conducts only its trademark business in South Carolina. (R. p. 342 (Report of Field Audit Ex. 1, Tab 1 p.3); R. p. 253, Tr. p. 112, lines 6-12; see R. p. 124, Tr. p. 80, line 22-R. p. 125, Tr. p. 81, line 15; R. p. 131, Tr. p. 106, lines 3-13.) Since Appellant conducts only its trademark business in South Carolina and its trademark business is engaged in neither manufacturing nor dealing in tangible personal property, the multi-factor formula is not applicable to Appellant regarding apportionment of its net income in South Carolina.

did not apply to Geoffrey because, unlike Appellant, Geoffrey did not have its own retail operations. See Geoffrey at 17-19, 437 S.E.2d at 15-16.

The gross-receipts ratio is the fraction in which the numerator is total gross receipts from within this State during the taxable year and the denominator is total gross receipts from everywhere during the taxable year. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2290 (Supp. 2007). Using this gross-receipts ratio, Appellant included in the numerator only the gross receipts from royalties in its trademark business related to transactions in RAC East's South Carolina stores while including in its denominator its gross receipts from its trademark business and its retail business from all states. (R. p. 152, Tr. p. 189, line 20-Tr. p. 190, line 3.) Because Appellant conducted only its trademark business in South Carolina, Appellant's inclusion of all of its retail sales in the denominator – none of which is conducted in South Carolina – substantially dilutes the statutory gross-receipts ratio. As stated earlier, 87% of Appellant's gross receipts came from its retail business conducted in western and mid-western states, so 87% of its gross receipts came from a type of business that Appellant did not conduct in South Carolina. (R. p. 254, Tr. p. 113, line 7-Tr. p. 115, line 19.) Despite the fact that 87% of its gross receipts had nothing to do with its trademark business in South Carolina, Appellant included this 87% of gross receipts in the denominator of the gross-receipts ratio but added nothing to the numerator.

Dr. Harrison, the Department's expert, confirmed this dilution of the gross-receipts ratio. He stated that Appellant is mixing apples and oranges. (R. p. 274, Tr. p. 194, lines 10-22.) As a result, Appellant significantly lessened the gross-receipts ratio because the denominator included a significant amount of gross receipts from retail sales when Appellant did not engage in any retail business in South Carolina. (R. p. 274, Tr. p.

194, line 23-Tr. p. 195, line 1.) The lowering of the gross-receipts ratio correspondingly caused a lowering of the amount of the South Carolina taxable income (or the “base”). This lower base, in violation of Section 12-6-2210(B), did not reasonably represent the proportion of Appellant’s trade or business carried on within South Carolina. Appellant conducted only its trademark business in South Carolina, but its apples and oranges approach to the gross-receipts ratio created a tax base out of proportion to its trademark business carried on in South Carolina.⁴

Appellant argues that the South Carolina General Assembly could have drafted Section 12-6-2290 differently so that the denominator of the gross-receipts ratio must include gross receipts “for the same type of business activity” as the gross receipts included in the numerator. (Appellant’s Brief p. 13.) Such a targeted definition of the gross-receipts ratio was not needed. The General Assembly enacted a broad alternative apportionment statute that allows an alternative method to be used to correct any situation, not solely a targeted situation as Appellant suggests, in which the statutory formula is flawed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2320(A) (2014).

⁴This analysis and conclusion also applies to Appellant’s use of the multi-factor formula under Section 12-6-2250. Although Section 12-6-2250’s multi-factor formula is not applicable to Appellant in this State because its principal and only business in South Carolina is its trademark business, the multi-factor formula does not create a base which reasonably represents the proportion of Appellant’s trademark business carried on in South Carolina. Even when using the multi-factor formula, Appellant used the apples and oranges approach by including all of Appellant’s retail sales in the denominator of the sales factor. In addition, Appellant reported that it had no payroll or property in South Carolina, so the payroll and property factors of the four-factor formula are zero. (R. pp. 366, 374, 382; Amended Form SC 1120 for 2003, 2004, and 2005 signed on Jan. 7, 2009 Ex. 1, Tab 7.) Having two of the four factors being zero also substantially dilutes and distorts the multi-factor formula and the tax base.

The Department's alternative apportionment method satisfies the goal of Section 12-6-2210(B) to tax the proportion of a taxpayer's business that was conducted in South Carolina. Although Appellant asserts that there is no provision in South Carolina law for the Department to consider the "type" of income, (Appellant's Brief pp 11-13), the alternative apportionment statute unambiguously states that the Department may require an alternative method, including separate accounting, "to all *or any part of* the taxpayer's business activity," S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2320(A) (2014) (emphasis added). Here, the Department is merely taxing the only part of Appellant's business conducted in South Carolina: its trademark business. The Department, in its alternative apportionment method, considered only royalty income, not income from retail sales. In this manner and complying with Section 12-6-2210(B), the Department taxes only Appellant's trademark business because it is the only activity that Appellant conducted in this State.

Appellant also mistakenly asserts that the Department is imposing a gross-receipts tax on Appellant's royalty income from South Carolina. If the Department's alternative method looks like a gross-receipts tax, it is only because Appellant did not identify or substantiate any deductions related to its trademark business.⁵ (See R., p. 254, Tr. p. 116, line 21-R. p. 255, Tr. p. 117, line 1; Transcript Day Two pp. 116:21-117:1.) The Department's auditor testified that, had the Appellant provided and supported any such

⁵When Appellant filed its South Carolina income tax returns using the standard four-factor or gross-receipts formulas, there was no need for Appellant to specifically identify deductions applicable to its South Carolina business activities. Under a standard formula, the resulting ratio is applied to adjusted federal taxable income from which deductions have already been taken. From 2003 to 2005, the four-factor formula ranged from 0.0991% to 0.1016%, while the gross-receipts ratio ranged from 0.1981% to 0.2032%. Under the Department's alternative apportionment method, South Carolina gross-receipts from royalties were specifically identified, so related deductions also needed to be specifically identified.

deductions, the Department would have allowed the deductions as part of the alternative apportionment method. (R. p. 255, Tr. p. 117, lines 2-4; Transcript Day Two p. 117:2-4.)

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